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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

REPRODUCTIVE FREEDOM FOR ALL,

1725 Eye Street NW, Suite 900
Washington, DC 20006

Plaintiff,
Case No. 25-cv-3565

U.S. FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION E
10903 New Hampshire Ave !
Silver Spring, MD 20993, !

CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID
SERVICES

7500 Security Boulevard

Baltimore, Maryland 21244

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiff Reproductive Freedom for All (“RFA”) brings this action against Defendants U.S.
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
(“CMS”) to compel compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552 (“FOIA”).
Plaintiff alleges as follows:

Jurisdiction and Venue

I. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and

28 U.S.C. § 1331.
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2. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 1391(e)(1), because Defendants’ headquarters and the agency records at issue are situated in this
District.

Parties

3. Plaintiff RFA is a national, not-for-profit organization that works to protect and
advance reproductive freedom at the federal and state levels.

4. Defendant FDA is a federal agency within the meaning of FOIA, 5 U.S.C.
§ 552(f)(1), and is headquartered in this District. FDA is in possession, custody, and control of
records, which are located in this jurisdiction and to which Plaintiff seeks access.

5. Defendant CMS is a federal agency within the meaning of FOIA, 5 U.S.C.
§ 552(f)(1), and is headquartered in this District. CMS is in possession, custody, and control of

records, which are located in this jurisdiction and to which Plaintiff seeks access.

Facts
6. The second Trump administration has taken actions to limit access to critical
reproductive healthcare.!
7. One such action is the opening of an FDA review of mifepristone, a medication that

has been available for decades, following political pressure rather than scientific developments
calling the drug’s safety into question.? Medication abortion is currently used to provide more than

half of all abortion care nationwide and mifepristone has been safely used for decades by millions

' Chantelle Kee, Here are Trump’s Major Moves Affecting Access to Reproductive Healthcare,
TIME, Feb. 20, 2025, https://perma.cc/LDS7-4Z9R.

2 Alejandra O’Connell-Domenech, FDA commissioner pledges to investigate Mifepristone, The
Hill, Jun. 3, 2025, https://perma.cc/3Y XJ-FRHF; Susan Rinkunas, RFK Jr Orders Mifepristone
Review as Anti-Abortion Groups Push for Ban, The Guardian, May 14, 2025,
https://perma.cc/C4M8-UDF2.
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of people. Baselessly restricting access to mifepristone would have devastating effects on people’s
ability to access critical health care across the country, in addition to undermining drug innovation
and threatening the future development and approval of lifesaving medicines.

8. CMS additionally rescinded 2022 guidance explaining the Emergency Medicine
Treatment and Active Labor Act (“EMTALA”), which requires hospitals with emergency
departments receiving Medicare funds to provide abortion care to pregnant patients experiencing
emergency medical conditions where that care is the necessary stabilizing treatment.> The
rescission threatens to sow further legal confusion for medical providers and put the lives and
health of pregnant patients at further risk. Since the Supreme Court overturned Roe v. Wade,*
These senseless tragedies threaten to increase if CMS and lawmakers continue to prioritize anti-
abortion extremists over the health of pregnant women and medical science.

9. To shed light on these actions taken by FDA and CMS, and on the priorities and
actions of those agencies’ leaders, RFA filed the following FOIA requests:

FDA Calendars, Communications, Contracts, and Guidance Request (FDA-FOIA-2025-9410)

10. On August 4, 2025, RFA sent a FOIA request to FDA seeking the following:

(1) All calendar entries (including attendees, calendar invitations,
calendar invitation attachments) of Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) Commissioner Marty Makary, Chief of Staff Jim Traficant,
and Deputy Commissioner Lowell M. Zeta concerning government

business.

(2) All materials used by or provided to Commissioner Makary in
preparation for his March 6, 2025 and May 22, 2025 congressional

3 Amanda Seitz and Geoff Mulvihill, Trump Administration Revokes Guidance Requiring
Hospitals to Provide Emergency Abortions, Associated Press, June 3, 2025,
https://perma.cc/T7PK-LAXN.

4 Amanda Seitz, Dozens of Pregnant Women, Some Bleeding or in Labor, Are Turned Away from
ERs Despite Federal Law, Associated Press, Aug. 14, 2024, https://perma.cc/Y EQS5-NGKF.
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testimony that concern abortion, mifepristone, misoprostol, other
reproductive healthcare, the Comstock Act, or the Ethics and Public
Policy Center (EPPC). Such records would likely include talking
points, background memoranda, and sample questions and answers.

(3) All communications (including emails, memoranda, and text
messages (including on applications such as Signal and WhatsApp))
of (a) Commissioner Makary, Chief of Staff Traficant, Deputy
Commissioner Lowell M. Zeta, and any other political appointee at
FDA concerning (b) abortion, mifepristone, misoprostol, other
reproductive healthcare, the Comstock Act, or the Ethics and Public
Policy Center (EPPC).

(4) All directives or guidance issued by Commissioner Makary, Chief
of Staff Traficant, Deputy Commissioner Lowell M. Zeta, and any
other political appointee at FDA regarding mifepristone,
misoprostol, or any other medication related to abortion, including,
but not limited to, directives concerning reviews of such
medications.

(5) Records sufficient to show all FDA staff and contracts carrying out
any review of mifepristone, misoprostol, or any other medication
related to abortion.

(6) All communications (including emails, memoranda, and text
messages (including on applications such as Signal and WhatsApp))
of (a) Commissioner Makary, Chief of Staff Traficant, Deputy
Commissioner Lowell M. Zeta, and any other political appointee at
FDA with (b) the entities listed below:

External Organizations
I. National Right to Life Committee (@nrlc.org)
II. Americans United for Life (@aul.org)
II. Students for Life of America (@studentsforlife.org)
IV. Susan B. Anthony Pro-Life America (@sbaprolife.org)
V. Alliance Defending Freedom, including Erik Baptist (@adflegal.org)
VI. Ethics in Public Policy Center (@eppc.org)
VII. Senator Josh Hawley or his staff (@hawley.senate.gov)
VIII. Jonathan Mitchell (jonathan@mitchell.law)

1. This request sought records from March 1, 2025, until the date of the search.
12. On August 5, 2025, FDA acknowledged this request and assigned it tracking

number FDA-FOIA-2025-9410.
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13.  When acknowledging the request, FDA stated there may be a delay in processing

this request.

14. On August 7, 2025, FDA informed RFA that the request was submitted to FDA’s

E-Discovery Team.

15.  RFA has received no subsequent communication from FDA regarding this FOIA

request.
CMS Calendars, Communications, Contracts, and Guidance Request (080420257064)
16. On August 4, 2025, RFA sent a FOIA request to CMS seeking the following:

(1) All calendar entries (including attendees, calendar invitations,
calendar invitation attachments) of Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services (CMS) Administrator Mehmet Oz, Deputy
Administrator and Chief of Staff Stephanie Carlton, and Deputy
Administrator John Brooks concerning government business.

(2) All materials used by or provided to now-Administrator OZ in
preparation for his March 14, 2025 congressional testimony that
concern abortion or EMTALA. Such records would likely include
talking points, background memoranda, and sample questions and
answers.

(3) All communications (including emails, memoranda, and text
messages (including on applications such as Signal and
WhatsApp)) of (a) CMS Administrator Mehmet Oz, Deputy
Administrator and Chief of Staff Stephanie Carlton, and Deputy
Administrator John Brooks, and any other political appointee at
CMS concerning (b) abortion or EMTALA.

(4) All directives or guidance issued by CMS Administrator Mehmet
Oz, Deputy Administrator and Chief of Staff Stephanie Carlton,
and Deputy Administrator John Brooks, and any other political
appointee at CMS regarding abortion or EMTALA.

(5) All communications (including emails, memoranda, and text
messages (including on applications such as Signal and
WhatsApp)) of (a) Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
(CMS) Administrator Mehmet Oz, Deputy Administrator and
Chief of Staff Stephanie Carlton, and Deputy Administrator John
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Brooks, and any other political appointee at CMS with (b) the
entities listed below:

External Organizations
I.  National Right to Life. Committee (@nrlc.org)
II.  Americans United for Life (@aul.org)
II.  Students for Life of America (@studentsforlife.org)
IV.  Susan B. Anthony Pro-Life America (@sbaprolife.org)
V.  Alliance Defending Freedom, including Erik Baptist
(@adflegal.org)
VI.  Ethics in Public Policy Center (@eppc.org)
VII.  Senator Josh Hawley or his staff (@hawley.senate.gov)
VIII.  Jonathan Mitchell (jonathan@mitchell.law)

(6) All analyses of the impacts, including on the availability of life-
saving care, of the rescission of CMS’s July 2022 guidance titled
“Reinforcement of EMTALA Obligations specific to Patients who
are Pregnant or are Experiencing Pregnancy Loss.”

17. This request sought records from February 1, 2025, until the date of the search.

18. On August 11, 2025, CMS acknowledged this request and assigned it tracking
number 080420257064.

19.  On September 3, 2025, CMS updated the status of this request to “responsive
records returned to the FOIA office for review and disclosure analysis” and indicated an
“undetermined” projected date of response in its online portal.

20.  RFA has received no subsequent communication from CMS regarding this FOIA
request.

Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies

21.  As of the date of this Complaint, Defendants have failed to notify RFA of

determinations regarding the FOIA requests described herein. Through Defendants’ failure to

respond within the time limits required by law, RFA has constructively exhausted administrative

remedies on these requests.
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

Count 1 (Violation of FOIA. 5 U.S.C. § 552, Failure to Respond with Determinations)

1. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as though fully set
forth herein.
2. By failing to respond to Plaintiff’s FOIA requests with determinations within the

statutorily mandated time period, Defendants have violated their duties under 5 U.S.C. § 552,

including but not limited to, the duties to conduct a reasonable search for responsive records, to

take reasonable steps to release all nonexempt information, and to not withhold responsive records.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court:

1.

Order Defendants to conduct adequate searches for any and all responsive records
to Plaintiff’s FOIA requests using search methods reasonably calculated to lead to
discovery of all responsive records;

Order Defendants to produce, by a date certain, any and all non-exempt responsive
records and a Vaughn index of any responsive records withheld under a claim of
exemption;

Enjoin Defendants from continuing to withhold any and all non-exempt responsive
records;

Order Defendants to grant Plaintiff’s fee waiver requests;

Award Plaintiff its costs, attorneys’ fees, and other disbursements for this action;
and

Grant any other relief this Court deems appropriate.
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Dated: October 30, 2025 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Daniel A. McGrath

Daniel A. McGrath

(Bar No. 31501)
Anisha N. Hindocha*

(D.C. Bar No. 1725159)

Robin F. Thurston

(Bar No. 31584)
Democracy Forward Foundation
P.O. Box 34553

Washington, D.C. 20043

(202) 448-9090
dmcgrath@democracyforward.org
ahindocha@democracyforward.org
rthurston@democracyforward.org

Counsel for Plaintiff Reproductive Freedom
for All

*pro hac vice forthcoming
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1(c)- Attorneys for Plaintiff:

Daniel McGrath, Anisha Hindocha, Robin Thurston

Democracy Forward Foundation
P.O. Box 34553, Washington, D.C. 20043

Tel: 202-448-9090
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Digtrict of Maryland

Reproductive Freedom for All

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 25-cv-

U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) c/o Civil Process Clerk
U.S. Attorney's Office for the District of Maryland
36 S. Charles Street, 4th Floor,
Baltimore, MD 21201

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Daniel McGrath

Democracy Forward Foundation
P.O. Box 34553
Washington, D.C. 20043

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 25-cv-

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Digtrict of Maryland

Reproductive Freedom for All

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 25-cv-

U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) PAM BONDI, in her official capacity as Attorney General of the United States
950 Pennsylvania Ave NW,
Washington, D.C. 20530

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Daniel McGrath

Democracy Forward Foundation
P.O. Box 34553
Washington, D.C. 20043

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 25-cv-

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Digtrict of Maryland

Reproductive Freedom for All

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 25-cv-

U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

Chief Counsel, Food and Drug Administration
ATTENTION: LITIGATION

White Oak Building 31, Room 4544

10903 New Hampshire Ave.,

Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002.

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Daniel McGrath

Democracy Forward Foundation
P.O. Box 34553
Washington, D.C. 20043

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Digtrict of Maryland

Reproductive Freedom for All

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 25-cv-

U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services
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Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICES
7500 Security Boulevard
Baltimore, Maryland 21244

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Daniel McGrath

Democracy Forward Foundation
P.O. Box 34553
Washington, D.C. 20043

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:





